ELSEVIER

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Biochemical Pharmacology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/biochempharm



Review

Targeting the nicotinic alpha7 acetylcholine receptor to enhance cognition in disease

Tanya L. Wallace a,*, Richard H.P. Porter b

^a Center for Neuroscience, SRI International, 333 Ravenswood Avenue, M/S 100-69, Menlo Park, CA 94025, USA ^b pRED Development, F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd., 124 Grenzachestrasse, CH-4070 Basel, Switzerland

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 15 April 2011 Accepted 24 June 2011 Available online 2 July 2011

Keywords:
Cognitive
Memory
Attention
Nicotine
Alzheimer's
Schizophrenia

ABSTRACT

A promising drug target currently under investigation to improve cognitive deficits in neuropsychiatric and neurological disorders is the neuronal nicotinic alpha7 acetylcholine receptor (α 7nAChR). Improving cognitive impairments in diseases such as Alzheimer's (AD) and schizophrenia remains a large unmet medical need, and the α 7nAChR has many properties that make it an attractive therapeutic target. The α 7nAChR is a ligand gated ion channel that has particularly high permeability to Ca²⁺ and is expressed in key brain regions involved in cognitive processes (e.g., hippocampus). The α 7nAChRs are localized both pre-synaptically, where they can regulate neurotransmitter release, and post-synaptically where they can activate intracellular signaling cascades and influence downstream processes involved in learning and memory. In particular, activation of the α 7nAChR with small molecule agonists enhances long-term potentiation, an in vitro model of synaptic plasticity, and improves performance across multiple cognitive domains in rodents, monkeys, and humans. Positive allosteric modulation of the α 7nAChR offers an alternate approach to direct agonism that could prove to be particularly beneficial in certain disease populations where smoking nicotine is prevalent (e.g., schizophrenia) and could interfere with an orthosteric agonist approach. The current review focuses on the neurobiology of the α 7nAChR, its role in cognition and the development status of some of the most promising molecules advancing for the treatment of cognitive dysfunction in disease.

© 2011 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	892
2.	Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs)	892
3.	α 7 Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (α 7nAChRs)	892
	3.1. Structure and localization.	892
	3.2. Neuronal expression and neurotransmission.	892
	3.3. Ca ²⁺ permeability.	893
	3.4. Synaptic plasticity.	
	3.5. Intracellular signaling	893
	3.6. Receptor desensitization.	893
4.	Targeting the $lpha$ 7nAChR for cognitive enhancement	894
	4.1. Agonists.	
	4.1.1. Episodic memory	894
	4.1.2. Working memory	
	4.1.3. Attention	896
	4.1.4. Sensory gating	896
	4.2. Positive allosteric modulators	897
5.	lpha7nAChRs in Alzheimer's disease	897
	5.1. Pathology	897
	5.2. Neuroprotection	898

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 650 859 6041; fax: +1 650 859 3153.

E-mail addresses: tanya.wallace@sri.com (T.L. Wallace), richard.porter@roche.com (Richard H.P. Porter).

	5.3. Clinical	898
6.	lpha7nAChRs in schizophrenia	898
	6.1. Cognition	898
	6.2. Sensory gating	899
	6.3. Clinical	
	α7nAChRs in ADHD	
8.	lphaTnAChRs in autism	900
9.	Perspectives	900
	Acknowledgements	
	References	900

1. Introduction

Cognitive impairments are prevalent in many neurological (e.g., Alzheimer's) and psychiatric (e.g., schizophrenia) diseases, as well as with general aging, and disappointingly there are limited treatment options currently available. Thus, research and development of novel therapies to improve cognitive function continues to warrant investigation and, rightfully so, receives much attention. Cognition itself, is a highly complex CNS function that includes many domains (e.g., memory, attention, executive processes), of which, one or many processes may be compromised in a disease state. The cholinergic system is intimately associated with cognitive function; and, targeted degeneration of these neurons in Alzheimer's disease (AD) underlies the pathology of these patients.

Traditionally, drugs to improve cognition have focused on enhancing cholinergic neurotransmission by inhibiting the hydrolysis of the acetylcholinesterase enzyme (i.e., acetylcholinesterase inhibitors; AChEIs). Acetylcholine (ACh) acts on both nicotinic and muscarinic receptor classes distributed throughout the brain and periphery. More recently, modulating glutamatergic tone with memantine, a drug that antagonize the N-methyl-p-aspartate (NMDA) receptor, has been introduced. Both AChEI and NMDA receptor antagonist approaches are modestly effective at treating memory impairments in Alzheimer's disease (AD), with even more limited success at treating cognitive impairments in schizophrenia (CIAS) and other disorders [1–3]. Thus, the need to improve our fundamental understanding of cognitive processes and to translate those findings into novel therapies remains paramount.

2. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs)

Nicotine has long been recognized for its ability to improve attention, learning and memory across many species, including rodents, monkeys and humans [4]. Nicotine's actions are mediated through nAChRs located throughout the brain and periphery. In particular, the neuronal nAChR system is responsible for the procognitive properties of nicotine, and has been implicated in diseases in which cognitive deficits are a core feature (e.g., AD, schizophrenia, attention hyperactivity disorder [ADHD]). Moreover, the therapeutic potential of nAChR agonists has been supported by studies in which transdermal administration of nicotine improved attentional performance in patients with the aforementioned diseases/disorders [5]

Nicotinic receptors are members of a superfamily of ligand-gated ion channels that include GABA_A, glycine and serotonin-3 (5-HT₃) receptors [6,7]. The nAChRs are pentameric structures comprised of five types of subunits, α (2–10), β (2–4), δ , γ (fetal) and ϵ (adult) that assemble in a heterologous or homologous manner around a central cationic pore. Orthosteric ligand binding domains are located at the interface of the subunits, and can range from two to five sites depending on the composition of the subunits [8]. In addition, modulation of nAChRs can occur by allosteric binding domains that are distant from the primary active binding sites [9].

The two most predominant nAChRs in the brain are the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ and $\alpha 7$ containing receptors that are classified not only by subunit composition, but also by their binding potency for nicotine or the endogenous ligand, ACh, with the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nAChR having high affinity (nM) and $\alpha 7$ nAChR having low affinity for ACh (μ M) [10]. Both the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ and the $\alpha 7$ nAChRs have received a great deal of attention as important drug targets for cognitive enhancement each having its own strengths and weaknesses. The focus of this review will be on the investigation of the $\alpha 7$ nAChR for cognitive enhancing therapy.

3. α 7 Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (α 7nAChRs)

3.1. Structure and localization

The α 7nAChR is predominantly considered a homomeric receptor containing five α 7 subunits and an equal number of binding sites, with both ACh and choline acting as endogenous ligands for this nAChR subtype. In addition, recent reports have demonstrated that the α 7 subunit can co-assemble with the β 2 subunit *in vitro*, and evidence of an α 7 β 2nAChR localized on basal forebrain cholinergic neurons has been reported *in vivo* [11,12]. The presence of the heterologous α 7 β 2nAChR in the cholinergic basal forebrain and its sensitivity to beta-amyloid (A β) suggest that this nAChR subtype may have relevance to AD in particular.

Localization of the α 7nAChR in the rat brain using radiolabeled binding of the selective α 7nAChR antagonist, [125 I]- α -bugarotoxin (α -BTX), indicates high expression in brain regions recognized as biological substrates for cognitive function, including the hippocampus (CA1, CA3 and dentate gyrus subfields) and cortex (layers I and VI). In situ hybridization of mRNA in rat brain has largely paralleled the α 7nAChR neuronal expression patterns from the autoradiography studies [6,13–15]. In addition, α 7nAChR expression is also present in some subcortical limbic regions and brainstem nuclei (e.g., ventral tegmentum, substantia nigra).

Overall, human $\alpha7nAChR$ localization within the brain is similar to lower species, although some important differences have been reported in brain regions associated with cognition and sensory processing. Whereas little [\$^{125}I]-\$\alphaBTX\$ binding has been identified in the thalamic nuclei of the rat, besides lateral and medial geniculate areas, \$\alpha7nAChRs\$ have been identified in reticular nuclei of the thalamus in cynomolgus macaques [16], and in human brain obtained by postmortem analysis [17,18]. The reticular nucleus of the thalamus receives excitatory input from the cortex and the thalamus, and sends inhibitory projections to dorsal thalamic nuclei [19]. In particular, the reticular nucleus is important in mediating attention and sensory gating, two cognitive processes that are disrupted in schizophrenia, and suggests that the expression of \$\alpha7nAChRs\$ in this brain region may aid in modulating these processes.

3.2. Neuronal expression and neurotransmission

Neuronal α 7nAChRs have been detected at pre-synaptic, post-synaptic and peri-synaptic loci [20], and are implicated in

mediating fast synaptic transmission, neurotransmitter release and synaptic plasticity upon activation. The occurrence of $\alpha7nAChRs$ on presynaptic terminals in brain regions such as the prefrontal cortex [21] and ventral tegmental area [20] suggest that activation of the receptor can directly control excitatory amino acid release independent of membrane depolarization. Data from in vitro synaptosome preparations of cortical neurons show that stimulation of the $\alpha7nAChR$, either with depolarizing current or with the direct agonists (e.g., choline, compound A, AR-R17779) enhances excitatory amino acid release as measured by the glutamate surrogate [3H]-D-aspartate [21–23].

In addition, the presence of $\alpha7nAChRs$ on cholinergic and dopaminergic nerve terminals in the prefrontal cortex [24] suggests that $\alpha7nAChR$ expression is important in mediating additional neurotransmitter systems involved in cognitive function. Consistent with this view, *in vivo* microdialysis studies in rat show acute administration of the $\alpha7nAChR$ agonists, SSR180711 or A-582941 elevates ACh concentration in the prefrontal cortex [25,26]. Similarly, both choline and compound A have been reported to elevate dopamine concentrations in the prefrontal cortex [27], and GTS-21 was shown to significantly increase both dopamine and norepinephrine in the frontoparietal cortex of the rat [28].

3.3. Ca²⁺permeability

One of the unique characteristics of the ionotropic neuronal $\alpha7nAChR$ is its preference for Ca^{2^+} over other cations. This feature is also one of the most interesting with regard to its potential for cognitive enhancement in that Ca^{2^+} has well recognized involvement in mediating intracellular signaling cascades and synaptic plasticity [29]. The $\alpha7nAChR$ has a calcium to sodium permeability $(P_{Ca}^{\ 2^+}:P_{Na}^{\ +})$ ratio of approximately 20 as demonstrated in *Xenopus* oocytes expressing the $\alpha7nAChR$, which is greater than any of the other nAChRs and the NMDA receptor which shows a $P_{Ca}^{\ 2^+}:P_{Na}^{\ +}$ ratio of approximately 5 [14]. The $\alpha7nAChR$ -mediated Ca^{2^+} current is regulated by activation of Ca^{2^+} -induced Ca^{2^+} release from internal stores, and is different than other nAChRs which are coupled to voltage-operated Ca^{2^+} channels [30].

3.4. Synaptic plasticity

 $\alpha7nAChR$ expression measured through immunolabeling, [\$^{125}I]\$-\$\alphaBTX\$ binding, and electrophysiology is abundant postsynaptically on GABAergic interneurons in the hippocampus and cortex of both rat and human, where it has been shown to modulate the neuronal circuitry involved in cognitive function by providing inhibitory/disinhibitory tone onto glutamatergic neurons [\$31\$-\$3\$]. In addition, the high \$Ca^{2+}\$ permeability of the \$\alpha7nAChR\$ as well as the localization of these receptors on glutamatergic axon terminals suggest that activating these receptors can lead to enhanced synaptic plasticity [\$34\$].

Long term potentiation (LTP), an *in vitro* model of learning and memory [35], is enhanced in the dentate gyrus region of the hippocampus following nicotine administration and this effect is mediated through the α 7nAChR in that it can be abolished with the selective α 7nAChR antagonist α -methyllycaconitine (MLA) [36]. In addition, selective α 7nAChR agonists such as choline, GTS-21/DMBX [37] and SSR180711 [26] amongst others, improve LTP in hippocampal slice preparations from rodent. Moreover, mice that have a genetic deletion of the α 7nAChR show deficits in LTP following nicotine administration [36].

3.5. Intracellular signaling

Underlying the enhanced synaptic plasticity observed in hippocampus following nAChR agonist, Bitner et al. [39] have shown that intracellular signaling cascades with recognized importance in mediating cognitive function are triggered following stimulation of the α 7nAChR. Using the selective α 7nAChR agonist, A-582941, increased extracellular-signal regulated kinase 1/2 (ERK1/2) phosphorylation in the PC12 cell line. In addition, acute administration of A-582941 to mice increased both ERK1/2 and cAMP response element binding (CREB) phosphorylation in cingulate cortex and hippocampus. Both ERK1/2 and CREB are important post-synaptic mediators of synaptic plasticity, and long-term memory processes in multiple species (e.g., *Drosophila*, *Aplysia*, mice), and may underlie the pro-cognitive properties of the α 7nAChR selective agonists [39,40].

Following acute administration of A-58291 the neuronal activity marker, c-fos, and the cytoskeletal protein Arc showed a dose-dependent increase in mRNA expression in the medial prefrontal cortex, as well as an increase in the ventral-lateral orbitofrontal cortex. Both findings were identified in juvenile rats, but not in adults and were blocked by the α 7nAChR selective antagonist MLA. These data suggest α 7nAChR activation leads to increased neuronal activity in brain regions involved in attention and working memory [41].

3.6. Receptor desensitization

The α 7nAChR is characterized by its rapid (<100 ms) desensitization following agonist binding [42]. Desensitization renders the receptor temporarily inactive to subsequent agonist activity with recovery rates from desensitization being agonist specific (e.g., choline, acetylcholine) [43]. Although rapid desensitization has been a challenge for studying the α 7nAChR involvement in CNS function, it is a sophisticated system that has evolved to control cholinergic signaling, shape synaptic plasticity and possibly prevent excitotoxic cell death mediated through calcium signaling [44]. Identifying molecules that can influence receptor kinetics (activation, recovery rates from inactivation) may therefore be important properties to consider when identifying lead molecules for therapeutic purposes.

A consistent property that has been recognized with the α 7nAChR agonists, but also with nicotine and other nAChR subtype agonists, is the presence of U shaped dose response curves following administration [45]. The rapid desensitization of the α 7nAChR following agonist administration may underlie the dose limiting loss of effect observed with agonists to this receptor subtype. These effects have been noted and published in electrophysiological, neurochemical and behavioral studies of α 7nAChR agonists across species (e.g., [38,46], and have the potential to challenge effective dose selection when entering into a clinical setting.

Whereas activation of the α 7nAChR is the predominant hypothesis underlying the cognitive enhancing properties of nicotinic agonists, others have postulated that inactivation of the α7nAChR may be the desired effect for cognitive enhancement [47]. Generally, the α 7nAChR antagonists, mecamylamine and MLA are reported to impair cognition (e.g., spatial memory, working memory, long-term memory) across animal models (e.g., water maze, radial arm maze, novel object recognition) and species (e.g., mice, rats, monkeys); however, this provocative hypothesis is based on studies showing that low doses of some nAChR antagonists can have similar effects to agonists (i.e., cognitive enhancement). For example, the α 7nAChR antagonist, MLA has been shown to increase LTP in the CA1 region of the hippocampus similar to nicotine [48]. Behaviorally, low doses (µg/kg) of mecamylamine have been shown to improve working memory in a non-human primate model of delayed-match-to-sample, improve spatial navigation in initial trials of a water maze task and a delayed stimulus discrimination task, both in rodents and

monkeys [49]. One potential explanation is that mecamylamine binds to $\alpha7nAChRs$ on GABAergic interneurons in the hippocampus and decreases GABA output, functionally disinhibiting glutamatergic neurons, enhancing excitatory neurotransmission and improving learning and memory. Because of the rapid desensitization properties of the $\alpha7nAChR$, functional inactivation of these receptors occurs following agonist binding (i.e., similar to low dose antagonist effects), which is proposed to underlie the procognitive effects [47].

4. Targeting the α 7nAChR for cognitive enhancement

4.1. Agonists

Development of selective agonists directed to the orthosteric site of the α 7nAChR has received a great deal of attention and has resulted in the most advanced drug candidates for this target to date; although positive modulators of the allosteric site have an increasing presence and are discussed more in Section 4.2. Both full (e.g., AR-R17779, SSR180711) and partial (e.g., A-582941, AZD0328) agonists have been investigated with a majority of compounds designed to exhibit partial agonist properties in relation to ACh and/or nicotine. The similarity in sequence homology between the nAChRs and other ligand-gated ion channels such as the 5-HT₃R has proven to be challenging in developing selective α 7nAChR agonists, and several α 7nAChR agonists also exhibit potent 5-HT₃R antagonist properties (e.g., RG3487, EVP-6124).

4.1.1. Episodic memory

Memory formation that involves recording the contextual details (time, place, emotion) of an event is episodic, and requires the medial temporal lobe of the brain, of which, the hippocampus is an integral structure. Patients in which memory impairments are prominent (e.g., AD) are postulated to benefit from treatments that improve the episodic memory domain. To this end, α 7nAChR agonists have consistently enhanced performance in episodic memory tasks preclinically (Table 1). Both object and social recognition models with a temporal deficit provide a reliable method for assessing drug induced cognitive effects in healthy animals. α7nAChR agonist administration either prior to training (e.g., EVP-6124, RG3487), immediately after training (e.g., EVP-6124, RG3487), or prior to testing (e.g., EVP-6124) improves recognition memory. These data suggest that activation of the α 7nAChR is involved in acquisition, consolidation and retrieval of the memory. Possibly by enhancing neurotransmission (e.g., glutamate), as well as activating intracellular signaling pathways (ERK1/2), including phosphorylation of transcription factors such as CREB as discussed above (Section 3.5), may contribute to the cognitive enhancing episodic memory effects following α7nAChR activation.

In addition to effects on healthy animals, the full $\alpha7nAChR$ agonist, SEN12333, reversed scopolamine and MK-801 induced cognitive deficits in the object recognition task in rodents suggesting that stimulating the $\alpha7nAChR$ could compensate for deficits in both cholinergic and glutamatergic signaling [51]. Repeated administration of many of the $\alpha7nAChR$ agonists (e.g., RG3487, SSR180711) has demonstrated no loss of efficacy in recognition memory (i.e., no tachyphylaxis), a potentially important attribute for a novel therapeutic agent that would be administered chronically in patients. The improvements in episodic memory by $\alpha7nAChR$ agonists can be blocked with the selective $\alpha7nAChR$ antagonist, MLA, and are absent in $\alpha7nAChR$ knockout mice indicating that the activation of the $\alpha7nAChR$ is critical in mediating the cognitive enhancing effects [38,50,51,52]. Blockade of the pro-cognitive properties of compounds such as RG3487,

EVP-6124 and ABBF with α 7nAChR antagonists is important as these compounds also act as potent antagonists at the 5-HT₃R. Whereas 5-HT₃R antagonists have shown cognitive enhancing properties in hypo-cholinergic rat models, their pro-cognitive effects have not been demonstrated consistently [53,54].

In AD, the hippocampus is particularly vulnerable to neurodegeneration and memory impairment. Improvements in hippocampally mediated spatial navigation tasks in aged rodents administered $\alpha7nAChR$ agonists (e.g., GTS-21, S24795, RG3487) suggests therapeutic potential in a disease relevant animal model (e.g., AD) [38,55,56]. Similarly, animals with lesions of the nucleus basalis of Meynert (NBM) are used as a model for reduced cholinergic function and memory impairment. Treatment with GTS-21 improved both water maze and inhibitory avoidance behaviors in NBM lesioned animals as compared to vehicle treated control rats [57].

The α7nAChR full agonist SSR180711 was tested extensively for its ability to improve episodic recognition memory following NMDA receptor antagonism, which is used to model aspects of the hypoglutamatergic state in schizophrenia [50]. Acute administration of SSR180711 prior to training improved recognition memory in rat and mouse following a 24 h or 48 h time delay, respectively, an effect that was absent in α 7nAChR knockout mice and was blocked in rat by pretreatment with MLA. Following administration of MK-801, SSR180711 reversed both object recognition and spatial working memory deficits by acting at the α 7nAChR. In addition, in animals previously administered repeated doses of phencyclidine (PCP) as neonates and tested as adults, or in animals sensitized to PCP as adults and tested following a 10-day washout period, SSR180711 improved recognition memory as compared to the PCP alone groups. These data suggest that α 7nAChR agonism may improve cognitive deficits in schizophrenia. Interestingly, using the latent inhibition model, SSR180711 further demonstrated its potential as a cognitive enhancing agent and as an antipsychotic, following treatment of rats with MK-801 or amphetamine [58].

4.1.2. Working memory

Working memory is the ability to hold information temporarily online in order to successfully complete a task, and is one of the most sensitive cognitive functions to decline with aging, stress and disease. Dysfunction of the working memory domain has been described to underlie the cognitive and negative symptoms of schizophrenia, as well as the behavioral disorganization of the disease [59]. Thus, treatments that improve working memory function may have beneficial effects on many facets of a heterogeneous disorder like schizophrenia.

The prefrontal cortex is a primary neural substrate for mediating working memory functions, and the cholinergic and dopaminergic systems have been implicated in shaping this cognitive domain. Evidence of α7nAChR involvement, in particular, has been reported by several labs. Systemic administration of the selective full agonist, AR-R17779 improves working memory performance in rats [60]; conversely, infusion of the α 7nAChR antagonist, MLA, into the dorsal or ventral hippocampus impairs working memory performance as assessed in the radial arm maze [61–63] (Table 1). Similarly, α 7nAChR KO mice also showed increased latencies to reach an escape platform using spatial cues in a delayed match-to-place water maze paradigm that assesses working and episodic memory [64]. Several pharmacological studies using both young and aged non-human primates have demonstrated working memory improvements following acute administration of α 7nAChR agonists (e.g., GTS-21, ABT-107; RG3487) [65-67]. This is important since the prefrontal cortex of the monkey is more phylogenetically similar to the human and performance in tasks mediated by this brain region may better

 $\begin{tabular}{ll} \textbf{Table 1} \\ Preclinical cognitive effect of $\alpha 7 n A ChR$ agonists and positive allosteric modulators. \\ \end{tabular}$

	Agonist/PAM	Cognitive domain	Model	Species/treatment	Result	Reference
A-582941	Agonist	Episodic memory Episodic memory Episodic memory	Social recognition (short delay) Inhibitory avoidance Inhibitory avoidance (short delay)	Rat Mouse Spontaneously hypertensive rat	Improvement Improvement Improvement	[39] [39] [25]
		Working memory Working memory Sensory gating Sensory gating	Delayed match to sample Modified Y maze Auditory evoked potential Auditory evoked potential	Young and aged NHP Mouse/scopolamine deficit Rat/MLA deficit DBA/2 mouse	Improvement Improvement Improvement	[39,144] [145] [39] [39]
ABBF	Agonist	Episodic memory Episodic memory Working memory	Novel object recognition Social recognition Water maze	Mouse Rat Aged rat	Improvement Improvement Improvement	[146] [146] [146]
ABT-107	Agonist	Episodic memory Episodic memory Working memory	Social recognition Inhibitory avoidance Delayed match to sample	Rat Mouse NHP	Improvement Improvement Improvement	[66] [66] [66]
AR-R17779	Agonist	Episodic memory Episodic memory Working memory Working memory	Social recognition (24h delay) Eyeblink conditioning Social recognition (15 min delay) Radial arm maze	Rat Young and aged rabbit Rat/scopolamine deficit Rat (normal and fornix lesion)	Improvement Improvement Improvement Improvement	[147] [148] [147] [60]
		Attention Attention Attention Sensory gating Sensory gating	5-Choice serial reaction time 5-Choice serial reaction time 5-Choice serial reaction time Prepulse inhibition of startle Prepulse inhibition of startle	Rat Aged rat Rat DBA/2 mouse and rat DBA/2 mouse	No effect No effect No effect No effect No effect	[74] [73] [72] [83] [79]
AZD0328	Agonist	Working memory Working memory	Novel object recognition (15 min delay) Spatial delayed response	Mouse NHP	Improvement Improvement	[149] [68]
Compound 23	Agonist	Sensory gating	Auditory evoked potential	Rat/MK801 deficit	Improvement	[150]
Compound 25	Agonist	Working memory Sensory gating	Radial arm maze Auditory evoked potential	Rat/scopolamine deficit Rat/MK801 deficit	Improvement Improvement	[150] [150]
EVP-6124	Agonist	Episodic memory Episodic memory Episodic memory	Novel object recognition (short delay) Novel object recognition (long delay) Water maze	Rat/scopolamine deficit Rat Rat	Improvement Improvement Improvement	[52] [52] [52]
GTS-21	Agonist	Episodic memory Episodic memory Episodic memory Episodic memory Episodic memory Episodic memory Episodic memory Working memory Working memory Working memory Working memory Sensory gating Sensory gating Sensory gating Sensory gating	Eyeblink conditioning Conditioned avoidance Radial arm maze Water maze Water maze Inhibitory avoidance Inhibitory avoidance Lashley maze Delayed match to sample Radial arm maze Delayed match to sample Prepulse inhibition of startle Prepulse inhibition of startle Auditory evoked potential Auditory evoked potential Auditory evoked potential	Aged rabbit/mecamylamine Aged rat Aged rat Rat Rat (NBM lesion) Mouse Rat (NBM lesion) Aged rat Aged NHP Aged rat Aged NHP/ketamine deficit DBA/2 mouse and rat DBA/2 mouse DBA/2 mouse DBA/2 mouse DBA/2 mouse/cocaine deficit Rat/isolation reared	Improvement Improvement Improvement No effect Improvement Improvement Improvement Improvement Improvement Improvement Improvement Improvement Improvement No effect Improvement Improvement Improvement Improvement	[151–153] [55] [55] [57] [57] [57] [154] [57] [55] [65] [55] [47] [83] [79] [80,155] [156] [82]
JN403	Agonist	Episodic memory Sensory gating	Social recognition (long delay) Auditory evoked potential	Mouse DBA/2 mice	Improvement Improvement	[157] [157]
PHA543613	Agonist	Episodic memory Sensory gating	Novel object recognition (long delay) Auditory evoked potential	Rat Rat/amphetamine deficit	Improvement Improvement	[158] [158]
PHA568487	Agonist	Sensory gating	Auditory evoked potential	Rat/amphetamine deficit	Improvement	[159]
PHA709829	Agonist	Sensory gating	Auditory evoked potential	Rat/amphetamine deficit	Improvement	[160]
PNU-282987	agonist	Working memory Working memory Sensory gating	Modified Y maze Radial arm maze Auditory evoked potential	Mouse/scopolamine deficit Rat/frontal cortical infusion Rat/amphetamine deficit	Improvement Improvement Improvement	[145] [161] [78,162]
RG3487	Agonist	Episodic memory Episodic memory Attention Attention Working memory Sensory gating Executive function	Novel object recognition Morris water maze Visual signal detection Object retrieval Delayed match to sample Prepulse inhibition of startle Attentional set shifting	Rat Aged rat and mouse Rat NHP NHP Rat/apomorphine deficit Rat/PCP deficit	Improvement Improvement Improvement Improvement Improvement Improvement	[38] [38] [71] [67] [67] [38] [38]
S 24795	Agonist	Episodic memory Episodic memory	Radial arm maze Serial discrimination	Aged mouse Aged mouse	Improvement Improvement	[56] [163]

Table 1 (Continued)

Compound	Agonist/PAM	Cognitive domain	Model	Species/treatment	Result	Reference
		Working memory	Radial arm maze	Aged mouse	Improvement	[56]
SEN12333	Agonist	Episodic memory	Novel object recognition (24 h delay)	Rat	Improvement	[51]
		Episodic memory	Novel object recognition (1–4h delay)	Rat/scopolamine or MK801 deficit	Improvement	[51]
		Episodic memory	Inhibitory avoidance (24 h delay)	Rat/scopolamine deficit	Improvement	[51]
		Sensory gating	Prepulse inhibition of startle	Rat/apomorphine deficit	Improvement	[51]
SSR180711	Agonist	Episodic memory	Novel object recognition (24-48 h delay)	Rat, mouse	Improvement	[50]
		Episodic memory	Novel object recognition (1 h delay)	Rat/MK801 deficit w/and w/o MLA	Improvement	[50]
		Episodic memory	Novel object recognition (48 h delay)	α 7nAChR knockout mouse	No effect	[50]
		Episodic memory	Novel object recognition	Mouse/PCP deficit	Improvement	[164]
		Episodic memory	Latent inhibition	Rat/MK801 or amphetamine deficit	Improvement	[58]
		Episodic memory	Latent inhibiton	Rat/NOS inhibitor as neonates	Improvement	[58]
		Working memory	Water maze	Rat/MK801 deficit	Improvement	[50]
		Working memory	Modified Y maze	Mouse/scopolamine or PCP deficit	Improvement	[145,165
		Working memory	Linear maze	Rat/PCP deficit	Improvement	[50]
		Attention	Social novelty discrimination	Rat/PCP as neonates	Improvement	[50]
TC-5619	Agonist	Episodic memory	Novel object recognition (0.5-18 h delay)	Rat	Improvement	[166]
		Sensory gating	Prepulse inhibition of startle	Mice	No effect	[166]
		Sensory gating	Prepulse inhibition of startle	WT and $th(tk-)/th(tk-)$ mice	Improvement	[166]
		Sensory gating	Prepulse inhibition of startle	Rat/apomorphine deficit	Improvement	[166]
A-867744	PAM	Sensory gating	Auditory evoked potential	DBA/2 mouse	Improvement	[167]
Compound A	PAM	Sensory gating	Prepulse inhibition of startle	Rat/isolation rearing	Improvement	[168]
JNJ-1930942	PAM	Sensory gating	Auditory evoked potential	DBA/2 mouse	Improvement	[89]
NS1738	PAM	Episodic memory	Water maze	Rat/scopolamine deficit	Improvement	[91]
		Episodic memory	Social recognition (2h delay)	Rat	Improvement	[91]
PNU-120596	PAM	Sensory gating	Auditory evoked potential	Rat/amphetamine deficit	Improvement	[87]
SB-206553	PAM	Sensory gating	Prepulse inhibition of startle	Rat/MK801 deficit	Improvement	[90]
XY 4083/Compound 6	PAM	Working memory	Radial arm maze	Rat	Improvement	[88]
-	PAM	Sensory gating	Auditory evoked potential	DBA/2 mouse	Improvement	[88]

NHP: non-human primate; MLA: methyllycaconitine; PCP: phencyclidine; NOS: nitric oxide synthase; NBM: nucleus basalis of Meynert.

represent the performance of human behavior. Interestingly, the partial α 7nAChR agonist, AZD0328, administered at very low doses (ng/kg) either acutely or chronically improved working memory performance in a non-human primate species that persisted for up to 1 month after treatment [68].

4.1.3. Attention

Attention is mediated by the prefrontal cortex and is one of the most consistently reported cognitive functions assessed when investigating nicotinic systems. As attention underlies many cognitive functions, improvement in this domain could have wide-spread effects in diseases such as schizophrenia and ADHD, in which attentional deficits are prominent, Cholinergic systems are critically involved in the neuronal circuitry mediating attentional processes in the forebrain and lesioning this system results in impaired performance. Moreover, drugs that increase cholinergic neurotransmission or stimulate nAChRs enhance attentional processes. Mice with targeted deletions of the α7nAChR show impaired attentional processing in 5-choice serial reaction time (5-CSRT) and odor span tasks [69]. Moreover, the deficit in the 5-CSRT task in knockout mice was not improved following systemic administration of nicotine underscoring the importance of α 7nAChR in attention [70]. However, the effects of α 7nAChR agonists on tasks that measure sustained attention have produced mixed results. RG3487 has been reported to improve attentional performance in a visual signal detection model of sustained attention in rat [71], and improves accuracy in the object retrieval attentional model in non-human primates [67]. Interestingly, RG3487 also was reported to improve performance in attentional set shifting model in rat following sub-chronic PCP administration [38]. However, several pharmacological studies using the full agonist AR-R17779 have not improved performance in the 5-choice serial reaction time task [72–74] (Table 1). In addition, systemic administration of MLA had no effect on the nicotine-induced increase in anticipatory responding and decreased reaction time in a sustained attention in rats suggesting that the $\alpha 7 \text{nAChR}$ may not be involved in mediating nicotine's effects in this model [75]. Differences in task demand, pharmacological and neurochemical properties between RG3487 and AR-R17779 may explain the differing results obtained in these attentional tasks.

One consideration in developing potential new therapies for cognitive impairing diseases is to recognize the possible concomitant medications of the target patient population and to model the effects of these combined therapies. For an AD population, background cholinesterase inhibitors are the current standard of care. Since these drugs increase ACh, the endogenous ligand of the α 7nAChR, it is possible that interaction of these compounds at the neurochemical level may influence the efficacy necessitating alterations in dose selection. Whereas administration of RG3487 and donepezil at sub-threshold doses produced a significant improvement in accuracy in a non-human primate model of attention, the combination of effective doses of both compounds shifted the dose response curve to the left as compared to RG3487 treatment alone [46]. However, in a separate study, continual infusion of ABT-107 and donepezil at clinically relevant concentrations continued to show improvements in short term memory [66].

4.1.4. Sensory gating

Deficits in sensory gating have been documented extensively in schizophrenia and may represent an endophenotype of the disease. Sensory gating is a measure of pre-attentive cognitive processes and can be assessed directly by recording electroencephalography responses to auditory evoked potentials (AEP) or behaviorally by startle responses following an auditory cue (prepulse inhibition of startle; PPI) [76]. In AEP, a conditioning stimulus precedes a test stimulus and a ratio of test-to-conditioning, which represents the level of gating (e.g., a high ratio means impaired gating), can be calculated. Similarly, in PPI, a weak pre-pulse stimulus precedes a strong startle inducing stimulus, and a ratio of the behavioral responses in both conditions can be assessed.

The α 7nAChRs, more so than other cholinergic receptors, are central to the function of auditory sensory gating, in which schizophrenic patients show marked deficits [77]. Activation of α 7nAChRs has been shown to increase GABAergic neurotransmission, which is hypothesized to restore sensory gating deficits associated with schizophrenia [78]. In DBA/2 mice, a naturally occurring reduction in α 7nAChRs is observed along with deficits in sensorimotor gating, which has made this an appropriate schizophrenia-like model for studying the effects of potential α 7nAChR therapies [79]. GTS-21, as well as several other α 7nAChR agonists, normalize the sensory gating deficits in DBA/2 mice, an effect that is blocked with the α 7nAChR antagonist, α -BTX, but not with the non-selective nAChR antagonist mecamylamine [80] (Table 1). Consistent with these data, administration of α -BTX alone impairs AEPs [81].

Gating responses can be disrupted experimentally by dopaminergic receptor agonists (e.g., apomorphine) and glutamatergic NMDA receptor antagonists (e.g., MK-801) and these methods are used to induce schizophrenia-like symptoms in animals. Typical and atypical antipsychotic drugs (e.g., haloperidol) can reverse these deficits. Similarly, many of the α 7nAChR agonists tested (e.g., SEN12333, RG3487, PNU282987, A-582941) can reverse pharmacological induced deficits in AEPs and/or PPI [25,38,51,78]. GTS-21 has shown a mixed effect in that it reversed AEP deficits in DBA/2 mice and in isolation reared rats [80,82], but had no effect in DBA/2 mice or normally reared rats when tested in the PPI model [83]. AR-R17779 also failed to improve auditory gating deficits in PPI [79,83]. Although AEP and PPI share many similar features (e.g., pharmacology, neurobiology) and are both impaired in schizophrenia, a lack of correlation between the two models has been reported and suggests that both models are useful to assess preattentive processing [84].

4.2. Positive allosteric modulators

An alternative approach to directly activating the orthosteric $\alpha7nAChR$ site is to design molecules that target and positively modulate the allosteric receptor site. An $\alpha7nAChR$ positive allosteric modulator (PAM) may offer several advantages over the direct agonist approach: (1) activation of the $\alpha7nAChR$ occurs exclusively in the presence of the endogenous agonist, ACh, and is therefore temporally managed (i.e., phasic stimulation); (2) may be less prone to cause prolonged desensitization of the $\alpha7nAChR$ following stimulation, and hence avoid loss of function as may occur with protracted agonist exposure; 3) avoids direct competitive interactions at the orthosteric binding site with nicotine in a smoking population. This latter issue may be of concern for a disease such as schizophrenia wherein over 65% of the population is estimated to smoke [85,86].

PNU-120596 is one of the most extensively characterized PAMs and was the first α 7nAChR PAMs to show *in vivo* efficacy in an amphetamine-induced auditory gating deficit paradigm in anesthetized rats [87] (Table 1). However, the significant retardation of the desensitization kinetics by this compound and the potential for excitoxicity through excessive Ca²⁺ entry has limited the advancement of this compound.

The α 7nAChR PAM, Compound 6, potentiated α 7nAChR agonist signals and preserved the native ion channel kinetics. Compound 6 did not induce toxicity in a SH- α 7 cell line, whereas PNU-120596 was toxic, presumably through high intracellular Ca²⁺ levels [88]. In addition, Compound 6 improved sensory gating in DBA/2 mice.

A recently described selective α 7nAChR PAM, JNJ-1930942 is reported to potentiate α 7nAChR agonist effects as measured in an electrophysiological assessment in the GH4C1 cell lines expressing α 7nAChRs. Interestingly, the potentiation by JNJ-1930942 was primarily caused by alteration in the receptor desensitization characteristics, while activation/deactivation kinetics and recovery from desensitization were essentially intact [89]. Moreover, JNJ-1930942 improves sensory gating in the DBA/2 mice that have been described previously to have naturally occurring gating deficits and decreased α 7nAChR expression.

In an interesting re-evaluation of the pharmacological properties of SB-206553, which was originally characterized as a serotonin 2B/2C antagonist, it was recently described to also have α 7nAChR PAM properties, and reversed MK-801 deficits in the rat PPI model [90].

Most α 7nAChR PAMs to date have reported *in vivo* effects on sensory gating models. NS1738, a selective α 7nAChR PAM has demonstrated improvements in acquisition of a water maze task in scopolamine treated animals [91]. These data suggest that the PAMs may be useful in conditions of altered cholinergic tone (e.g., AD). NS1738 also improved short term social recognition, a test of episodic memory.

Several groups have α 7nAChR PAMs in various stages of preclinical and early clinical development. Xytis, with XY-4083, is the first company reporting a Phase I-ready α 7nAChR PAM. As a potential advantage of the PAM approach may be to avoid competitive interaction at the orthosteric site with nicotine in a smoking population, it will be interesting to evaluate whether this benefit exists in human populations with any novel α 7nAChR PAM.

5. α 7nAChRs in Alzheimer's disease

5.1. Pathology

AD is a devastating neurodegenerative disorder that is defined by a progressive decline in cognitive processes that can include an inability to remember new information, difficulty in completing familiar tasks, impairments in spatial reasoning and general confusion. In addition, patients can suffer from behavioral abnormalities associated with the disease including agitation, aggression and social withdrawal that have an enormous impact on the caregivers of these patients. Pathologically, AD is characterized by the deposition of beta amyloid $(A\beta)$ containing plaques in the brain, neurofibrillary tangles, neuroinflammation and neuronal loss. The prevalence of AD is estimated at 26.6 million in 2006 and is expected to increase to over 100 million by 2050 [92].

Involvement of the α 7nAChR in the progression of AD has been suggested, in part, because of its high expression in brain regions that are involved in cognitive processes [93], and are particularly vulnerable in AD pathology (i.e., hippocampus and cortex) [94–97]. Consistent with this idea, significant reductions in α 7nAChR protein levels have been observed in postmortem brains of Alzheimer's patients [98,99], and correlations between cognitive decline associated with disease progression and the loss of α 7 (and other) nAChRs in the cortex has been reported using ¹¹C-nicotine binding PET imaging in patients diagnosed with probable AD [99]. However, not all studies have reported decreased α 7nAChR expression in the brains of AD patients, which may reflect high variability in the receptor expression in these patients [100].

5.2. Neuroprotection

An accumulating body of evidence suggests that α 7nAChRs may be involved in the pathogenesis of AD. Some [101,102], but not all [103–105] studies have reported that A β peptides bind with high affinity to α 7nAChR, [106,107]; exerting an inhibitory effect [103]. Consistent with this hypothesis, knocking out the α 7nAChR in a transgenic mouse model of AD conferred a benefit in learning and memory and preserved synaptic integrity compared to transgenic controls [108]. However, activation of the α 7nAChR may exhibit beneficial effects in that administration of nicotine and nAChR agonists have shown to be neuroprotective against A β peptidemediated neurotoxicity *in vitro* and *in vivo*. These effects were mediated by α 7nAChR activation of the pro-survival pathway (phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)-Akt kinase-Bcl2), as neuroprotection was prevented by selective α 7nAChR antagonists and PI3K inhibitors [109–114].

GTS-21 (DMXB) administration to rats for 3 months attenuated the loss of parietal neurons following bilateral NBM lesions providing *in vivo* evidence of neuroprotection by activating the α 7nAChR [112]. In addition, 10-day administration of GTS-21 to mice following intracerebrovascular infusion of the toxic A β (25–35) peptide reduced cognitive deficits in the water maze test [113]. Similarly, neuroprotective effects of α 7nAChR agonists have been identified *in vivo* with SEN12333 [51]. In this study, quisqualate injections into the nucleus basalis of Meynert produced significant cholinergic cell death (74% reduction) as measured by choline acetyltransferace (ChAT) immunoreactivity in this brain region of the rat. Subchronic administration of SEN12333 for 7 days significantly reversed the quisqualate induced cholinergic cell loss.

Recently, Bitner et al. [66] demonstrated disease modifying effects with the selective α 7nAChR agonist ABT-107. Continuous infusion of ABT-107 for 10 days in an AD transgenic mouse model (tau/APP transgenic mice) reduced tau hyperphosphorylation immunoreactivity in spinal sections. Previously, this same group had reported activation of α 7nAChR modulates glycogen synthase kinase-3-beta through a Pl3K-Akt pathway to reduce tau hyperphosphorylation [114].

5.3. Clinical

It is therefore not surprising, given the promising preclinical data, that $\alpha7nAChR$ agonists are currently pursued in double blind placebo controlled clinical studies for the treatment of AD. RG3487 is the most advanced molecule awaiting the announcement of a global multicenter Phase 2b study in 360 mild-moderate AD patients treated for 24-weeks as adjunctive therapy to donepezil (Table 2). RG3487, an $\alpha7nAChR$ agonist with potent 5-HT $_3R$

antagonist properties has previously reported positive signals of cognitive enhancement in an 80 patient mild-moderate monotherapy AD study in the domains of quality of episodic secondary memory, working memory and speed of memory (manuscript under review) using the computerized test battery CDR. Interestingly, the improvements in cognitive signal in the Phase 2a AD study also exhibited an inverted U shaped curve with doses of 5 and 15 mg being more promising than the 50 mg dose group, which coupled with the preclinical NHP data previously reported [46] and led Roche to explore the lower dose range in the Phase 2b study. Results of this study investigating a more advanced AD population (as defined their MMSE entry criteria) in the add-on setting to donepezil treatment have not yet been reported.

EnVivo Pharmaceuticals also have an α7nAChR partial agonist, EVP-6124, which exhibits 5-H T₃R antagonism and α3β4nAChR antagonist activity in clinical development. EVP-6124 is partnered with Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation for development and commercialization in Japan and other Asian markets. EVP-6124 has been investigated in two small AD studies of short duration and been reported to exhibit positive signals using a computerized test battery (Cogstate) in a study involving 48 mild-moderate AD patients when added onto donepezil or rivastigmine treatment for 28 days [115]. No data have been released on the monotherapy study. EVP-6124 has a long half-life (approximately 60 h compared to the 7-9 h half-life for RG3487), and it will be interesting to see if this confers a clinical advantage or whether receptor desensitization caused by prolonged agonist exposure may limit the therapeutic benefit. EVP-6124 is currently in a 300 patient Phase 2b study in mild-moderate AD patients for 24 weeks. According the EnVivo Company web site, results of this study are anticipated

Abbott, who have a long history of working on this target also have ABT-126 a selective $\alpha7nAChR$ agonist in Phase 2 development for AD. There is limited clinical data available on this drug which is currently in a four arm, 12-week monotherapy study examining 2 doses of ABT-126 against placebo and 10 mg donepezil as a positive comparator. This study is reported as completed in www.clinicaltrials.gov, (December 2010) but no results have been disclosed as of June 2011.

6. α 7nAChRs in schizophrenia

6.1. Cognition

Schizophrenia manifests itself with both positive (delusions, hallucinations) and negative (avolition, affective flattening) symptoms, and cognitive impairments. Therapies for treating the positive symptoms of the disease have been in place since the

Table 2 Clinical development status of α 7nAChR agonists and positive allosteric modulators.

Compound	Agonist/ PAM	Indications Pursued	Development Phase	Organization	Comment
ABT-126	Agonist	AD, CIAS	II	Abbott	Results anticipated 2011
EVP-6124; MT-4666	Agonist	AD, CIAS	II	En Vivo Pharmaceuticals/Mitsubishi	Positive results reported for schizophrenia
				Tanabe Pharma	AD results anticipated 2012
GTS-21; DMXB	Agonist	AD, CIAS, ADHD	II	CoMentis	Considered a tool compound
RG3487; R3487; MEM3454	Agonist	AD, CIAS	II	Roche/Memory Pharmaceuticals	AD results anticipated 2011 CIAS terminated
TC-5619	Agonist	AD, CIAS, ADHD	II	Targacept	Positive results reported for schizophrenia AD Results anticipated 2011 ADHD terminated
SSR180711	Agonist	AD	II	Sanofi Aventis	Study terminated
AZD0328	Agonist	AD, CIAS	I, II	AstraZeneca	CIAS study terminated
CP-8101243	Agonist	CIAS	I	Pfizer	Development reported terminated
RG4996; R4996; MEM63908	Agonist	AD	I	Roche/Memory Pharmaceuticals	No further development reported
XY-4083	PAM	Cognitive Disorders	I	Xytis Pharmaceuticals	No further development reported

discovery of chlorpromazine close to 60 years ago. Whereas these treatments have evolved into newer generation antipsychotics with fewer side effects, they are not ideal in that they leave many of the core symptoms of schizophrenia untouched.

It has been estimated that between 75% and 90% of schizophrenic patients show deficits in at least one cognitive domain [116]. Moreover, these cognitive deficits can occur earlier than the onset of psychotic symptoms, as well as in the absence of psychotic symptoms. In addition, many first-degree relatives of schizophrenic patients also show patterns of impaired cognition similar to their schizophrenic relatives [117]. Cognitive impairments in schizophrenia (CIAS) affect multiple domains (e.g., attention, problem solving, learning/memory), and are major predictors of functional outcome and continue to be a large unmet medical need. In the early part of the 2000s, the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) initiative, Measurement and Treatment Research to Improve Cognition in Schizophrenia (MATRICS), was designed as a multi-sector collaboration between governmentindustry-academia to enable the discovery and development of new treatments for CIAS. In particular, the goals of the MATRICS were to establish (1) how to measure cognition in schizophrenia; (2) promising pharmacological approaches; (3) clinical trial design for putative treatments; and, (4) regulatory approval for new drugs for CIAS

From the MATRICS initiative, three primary drug mechanisms of interest were identified: cholinergic, dopaminergic and glutamatergic. Of the cholinergic approaches, the $\alpha7nAChR$ was identified as a top target of investigation [118], and the Treatment Units for Research on Neurocognition and Schizophrenia (TURNS) initiative investigated lead cognitive enhancing molecules (e.g., GTS-21/DMXB-A) for efficacy in clinical trials up through proof-of-concept in schizophrenic patients.

6.2. Sensory gating

Inability to filter or gate sensory information in schizophrenia may contribute to the widespread cognitive deficits associated with the disease. In particular, impairments in attention are widely reported for patients with schizophrenia. A recent meta-analysis of tobacco smoking in schizophrenia reported over 65% of patients smoke, which is about 5× higher than the general population [85]. One hypothesis is that these patients are attempting to medicate themselves to improve the symptoms associated with the disease. In particular, the hypothesis is supported by studies showing nicotine reversed antipsychotic induced impairments in cognitive performance (i.e., nicotine reduced response time and increased accuracy) in schizophrenic patients [119]; and, a transient improvement in P50 sensory gating following nicotine administration to schizophrenic patients [120].

A significant decrease in the $[^{125}I]$ - α -BTX binding in the hippocampus of schizophrenic patients has been reported postmortem [121]. P50 gating responses are in part mediated by α 7nAChRs in the hippocampus [122], thus a decrease in this receptor expression may underlie the P50 gating deficits. As mentioned earlier, the α 7nAChR is also a central mediator of sensory gating, and abnormal P50 suppression (a measure of sensory gating) has been linked to genetic markers near the locus (<120 kb) of the α 7nAChR subunit gene on chromosome 15q14 [123]; however, Ithough this linkage has not been consistently observed [124]. In addition, the occurrence of single nucleotide polymorphisms in CHRNA7 core promoter has been significantly associated with deficits in P50 suppression in schizophrenics [125]. Administration of non-selective α 7nAChR agonists including tropisetron (also a 5-HT₃R antagonist) and nicotine reverse the P50 auditory gating deficit observed in patients [126,127].

6.3. Clinical

Administration of the α 7nAChR partial agonist, GTS-21, to nonsmoking schizophrenic patients significantly improved cognitive performance in the Repeatable Battery for Assessment of Neuropsychological Status (RBANS) test, and it normalized the P50 auditory evoked potential [128]. However, neither GTS-21 in a small cross over design study, nor RG3487 in a 215 patient doubleblind, placebo-controlled adjunctive to antipsychotics study (including smokers), reversed cognitive impairments in schizophrenic patients using the MATRICS scale [129,130] (Table 2). The lead molecule currently in clinical development for CIAS is TC-5619, which was recently announced [131] to have positive results for both negative symptoms and cognition in a 12-week study in both smokers and non-smokers. The negative symptoms were assessed using the Scale for the Assessment of Negative Symptoms (SANS) and cognition using the Cogstate schizophrenia battery. Despite these positive findings, AstraZeneca subsequently announced they are declining their option to license TC 5619. EVP-6124 from En Vivo is also in a Phase 2 study in schizophrenia initiated in January 2010 following the positive biomarker data evaluating sensory processing (measuring the evoked responses; P300, P50 and mismatch negativity), and cognitive processing (using Cogstate) in a small 20 patient Phase 1b study. Positive results on the overall cognitive index (Cogstate) have recently been reported with positive trend on the MATRICS for US patients and improvements in negative symptoms and overall clinical function also reported in a press release and the presentation of the data in full is eagerly anticipated. ABT-126 is also in a 210 patient Phase 2 study for CIAS (adjunctive to background antipsychotics), and although MATRICS is the primary outcome measure, Abbott have also included CANTAB for cognitive assessment, as well as scales to assess positive and negative symptoms in the disease. Results are anticipated mid 2011. With the recent announcements by Targacept and EnVivo, α7nAChR agonists may be realizing some of their potential as promising adjunctive treatment paradigms to improve cognitive impairments and negative symptoms in schizophrenia.

7. α7nAChRs in ADHD

Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is diagnosed by impaired attention, increased impulsivity and hyperactivity [132], associated with cognitive impairments observed in both children and adults. Nicotinic systems have been implicated in ADHD for several reasons: (1) Nicotine improves attention in ADHD adults (as well as smokers and nonsmokers and in animals) [133]: (2) comorbidity of smoking and ADHD is approximately 40% (equivalent to smoking rates in other psychiatric disorders) [134]; (3) ADHD is a major risk factor for early initiation of smoking [135]: (4) maternal smoking increases risk of ADHD [136]. Nicotine may act to improve attention and decrease hyperactivity by increasing prefrontal dopamine concentrations, an effect observed with ADHD therapies (e.g., methylphenidate). Moreover, selective a7nAChR agonists have been shown to elicit dopamine release in the prefrontal cortex and to improve attention [23]. However, no genetic association between the CHRNA7 microsatellite markers and ADHD have been identified using a linkage disequilibrium method in children [137].

Currently, both GTS-21 and TC-5619 have been tested clinically in adult patients with ADHD in randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled studies (Table 2). Disappointingly, TC-5619 reportedly did not reach its primary endpoint in this patient population, which was a change from baseline in the Conner's adult ADHD ratings scale. The results from the GTS-21 study have not been reported to date.

8. α7nAChRs in autism

Autism is characterized in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (version IV) by impairments in social interactions, communication deficits and restricted and repetitive behaviors [132]. Cholinergic abnormalities and disruption in cholinergic function is an evolving hypothesis underlying autism spectrum disorders [138,139]. Age-dependent changes in neuronal cell numbers and morphology in the cholinergic nucleus of the diagonal band of Broca of patients diagnosed with autism have been noted. In particular, the neurons are notably abnormally large in children (<13 years old) as compared to controls. With age, these cells become small, pale and decrease in number in adults (>21 years old) [140]. α -BTX binding and immunoreactivity studies show no evidence of altered α 7nAChR levels in the frontal and parietal cortex of autistic patients [138]; although, α 7nAChR binding was significantly increased in the granule cell layer of the cerebellum of autistic patients compared to the control cohort [141].

Alterations in cholinergic signaling and processing may be involved in the pathology and/or symptomatology of autism. A significantly higher concentration of choline was indentified in the prefrontal cortex of patients with Asperger's syndrome that correlated with social impairments as compared to high functioning individuals [142]. In addition, significantly higher ratios of choline to creatine levels have been identified in the left hippocampus-amygdala region and cerebellum of autistic children and this seems to be associated with language impairment as compared to typically developing children.

Dysfunction in inhibitory signaling in autism has been hypothesized to involve the α 7nAChR. As mentioned above, sensory gating as regulated by the P50 response is mediated by the α7nAChR. In autistic children, shorter latencies to evoke auditoryinduced P50 responses were noted in autistic children although the evoked responses themselves were equivalent in both autistics and the controls. However, in autistic children with learning deficits, impairments in P50 gating responses were identified. Interestingly, when correlating gamma neuronal oscillations, which is a physiological measure indicative of cognitive function, evidence for a disruption in prefrontal cortical function was described. Namely, autistic patients with low IQ showed higher gamma synchronization that was inversely correlated with impaired P50 suppression [143]. Alterations in inhibitory/excitatory neurotransmission may be involved in these dysfunctions. The localization of the α 7nAChR on GABAergic interneurons in the hippocampus may be involved. At present, the role of the α 7nAChR system in the pathophysiology of autism remains uncertain, but is an area of continued interest [139].

To date, no known clinical trials have been initiated to investigate $\alpha 7 nAChR$ agonists or PAMs for autism or its associated disorders.

9. Perspectives

Cognitive impairing diseases remain large unmet medical conditions, with conventional therapies (e.g., AChEIs) providing only modest and transient improvements. The investment into discovery and development of novel therapies to treat patients with these disorders clearly is warranted. Selective activation of the α 7nAChR presents an exciting opportunity to improve cognition in several disease populations through a unique mechanism of action. Relatively consistent pro-cognitive effects have been reported with α 7nAChR agonists across cognitive domains in rodents, non-human primates, healthy volunteers and patients. In addition, evidence of neuroprotective and disease modifying effects following α 7nAChR activation make this an

important target for an AD population. Furthermore, restricted target distribution primarily in the brain offers the potential of fewer side effects than the existing AChEIs such as donepezil. There are however challenges associated with developing novel therapies directed at the α 7nAChR, including effective dose selection considering the widespread "inverted U" shaped dose responses observed preclinically; potential interactions with concomitant medications (e.g., AChEIs, antipsychotics); and, functional consequences of receptor desensitization following chronic use.

It is therefore an exciting time, as several of the most advanced $\alpha7nAChR$ agonists in development are currently in critical proof-of-concept studies for both AD and schizophrenia that will undoubtedly shed light on whether targeting the orthosteric binding site on the receptor will be therapeutically beneficial in these diseases. To that end, following the advancement of the $\alpha7nAChR$ positive allosteric modulators as an alternative approach to directly targeting the $\alpha7nAChR$ will subsequently improve our understanding of the cognitive enhancing potential of this drug target in a clinical setting.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to acknowledge financial support from SRI International and F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd.

References

- [1] Yoo JH, Valdovinos MG, Williams DC. Relevance of donepezil in enhancing learning and memory in special populations: a review of the literature. J Autism Dev Disord 2007;37:1883–901.
- [2] Zdanys K, Tampi RR. A systematic review of off-label uses of memantine for psychiatric disorders. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 2008;32:1362–74.
- [3] Ribeiz SR, Bassitt DP, Arrais JA, Avila R, Steffens DC, Bottino CM. Cholinesterase inhibitors as adjunctive therapy in patients with schizophrenia and schizoaffective disorder: a review and meta-analysis of the literature. CNS Drugs 2010;24:303–17.
- [4] Rezvani AH, Levin ED. Cognitive effects of nicotine. Biol Psychiatry 2001;49:258–67.
- [5] Levin ED, Rezvani AH. Nicotinic treatment for cognitive dysfunction. Curr Drug Targets CNS Neurol Disord 2002;1:423–31.
- [6] Gotti C, Zoli M, Clementi F. Brain nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: native subtypes and their relevance. Trends Pharmacol Sci 2006;27:482–91.
- [7] Dani JA, Bertrand D. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and nicotinic cholinergic mechanisms of the central nervous system. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 2007;47:699–729.
- [8] Taly A, Corringer PJ, Guedin D, Lestage P, Changeux JP. Nicotinic receptors: allosteric transitions and therapeutic targets in the nervous system. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2009:8:733–50.
- [9] Bertrand D, Gopalakrishnan M. Allosteric modulation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. Biochem Pharmacol 2007;74:1155–63.
- [10] Wonnacott S. alpha-Bungarotoxin binds to low-affinity nicotine binding sites in rat brain. J Neurochem 1986;47:1706–12.
- [11] Azam L, Winzer-Serhan U, Leslie FM. Co-expression of alpha7 and beta2 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit mRNAs within rat brain cholinergic neurons. Neuroscience 2003;119:965–77.
- [12] Liu Q, Huang Y, Xue F, Simard A, DeChon J, Li G, et al. A novel nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subtype in basal forebrain cholinergic neurons with high sensitivity to amyloid peptides. J Neurosci 2009;29:918–29.
- [13] Clarke PB, Schwartz RD, Paul SM, Pert CB, Pert A. Nicotinic binding in rat brain: autoradiographic comparison of [3H]acetylcholine [3H]nicotine, and [125I]-alpha-bungarotoxin. J Neurosci 1985;5:1307–15.
- [14] Seguela P, Wadiche J, Dineley-Miller K, Dani JA, Patrick JW. Molecular cloning, functional properties, and distribution of rat brain alpha 7: a nicotinic cation channel highly permeable to calcium. J Neurosci 1993;13:596–604.
- [15] Tribollet E, Bertrand D, Marguerat A, Raggenbass M. Comparative distribution of nicotinic receptor subtypes during development, adulthood and aging: an autoradiographic study in the rat brain. Neuroscience 2004;124:405–20.
- [16] Cimino M, Marini P, Fornasari D, Cattabeni F, Clementi F. Distribution of nicotinic receptors in cynomolgus monkey brain and ganglia: localization of alpha 3 subunit mRNA, alpha-bungarotoxin and nicotine binding sites. Neuroscience 1992:51:77–86.
- [17] Spurden DP, Court JA, Lloyd S, Oakley A, Perry R, Pearson C, et al. Nicotinic receptor distribution in the human thalamus: autoradiographical localization of [3H]nicotine and [125I] alpha-bungarotoxin binding. J Chem Neuroanat 1997:13:105–13.
- [18] Breese CR, Adams C, Logel J, Drebing C, Rollins Y, Barnhart M, et al. Comparison of the regional expression of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor alpha7

- mRNA and [125I]-alpha-bungarotoxin binding in human postmortem brain. J Comp Neurol 1997;387:385–98.
- [19] Ferrarelli F, Tononi G. The thalamic reticular nucleus and schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 2011;37:306–15.
- [20] Jones IW, Wonnacott S. Precise localization of alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors on glutamatergic axon terminals in the rat ventral tegmental area. J Neurosci 2004;24:11244–52.
- [21] Rousseau SJ, Jones IW, Pullar IA, Wonnacott S. Presynaptic alpha7 and nonalpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors modulate [3H]_D-aspartate release from rat frontal cortex in vitro. Neuropharmacology 2005;49:59–72.
- [22] Marchi M, Risso F, Viola C, Cavazzani P, Raiteri M. Direct evidence that release-stimulating alpha7* nicotinic cholinergic receptors are localized on human and rat brain glutamatergic axon terminals. J Neurochem 2002;80:1071–8.
- [23] Livingstone PD, Dickinson JA, Srinivasan J, Kew JN, Wonnacott S. Glutamate-dopamine crosstalk in the rat prefrontal cortex is modulated by Alpha7 nicotinic receptors and potentiated by PNU-120596. J Mol Neurosci 2010;40:172-6.
- [24] Duffy AM, Zhou P, Milner TA, Pickel VM. Spatial and intracellular relationships between the alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor and the vesicular acetylcholine transporter in the prefrontal cortex of rat and mouse. Neuroscience 2009:161:1091–103.
- [25] Tietje KR, Anderson DJ, Bitner RS, Blomme EA, Brackemeyer PJ, Briggs CA, et al. Preclinical characterization of A-582941: a novel alpha7 neuronal nicotinic receptor agonist with broad spectrum cognition-enhancing properties. CNS Neurosci Ther 2008;14:65–82.
- [26] Biton B, Bergis OE, Galli F, Nedelec A, Lochead AW, Jegham S, et al. SSR 180711, a novel selective alpha7 nicotinic receptor partial agonist: (1) binding and functional profile. Neuropsychopharmacology 2007;32:1–16.
- [27] Livingstone PD, Wonnacott S. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and the ascending dopamine pathways. Biochem Pharmacol 2009;78:744–55.
- [28] Summers KL, Kem WR, Giacobini E. Nicotinic agonist modulation of neurotransmitter levels in the rat frontoparietal cortex. Jpn J Pharmacol 1997;74:139-46.
- [29] Kandel ER. Calcium and the control of synaptic strength by learning. Nature 1981;293:697–700.
- [30] Dickinson JA, Hanrott KE, Mok MH, Kew JN, Wonnacott S. Differential coupling of alpha7 and non-alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors to calcium-induced calcium release and voltage-operated calcium channels in PC12 cells. J Neurochem 2007;100:1089–96.
- [31] Alkondon M, Pereira EF, Eisenberg HM. Albuquerque EX. Choline and selective antagonists identify two subtypes of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors that modulate GABA release from CA1 interneurons in rat hippocampal slices. J Neurosci 1999;19:2693–705.
- [32] Alkondon M, Pereira EF, Eisenberg HM. Albuquerque EX. Nicotinic receptor activation in human cerebral cortical interneurons: a mechanism for inhibition and disinhibition of neuronal networks. J Neurosci 2000; 20:66–75.
- [33] Fabian-Fine R, Skehel P, Errington ML, Davies HA, Sher E, Stewart MG, et al. Ultrastructural distribution of the alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit in rat hippocampus. J Neurosci 2001;21:7993–8003.
- [34] Dajas-Bailador F, Wonnacott S. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and the regulation of neuronal signalling. Trends Pharmacol Sci 2004;25:317–24.
- [35] Bliss TV, Collingridge GL. A synaptic model of memory: long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. Nature 1993;361:31–9.
- [36] Welsby P, Rowan M, Anwyl R. Nicotinic receptor-mediated enhancement of long-term potentiation involves activation of metabotropic glutamate receptors and ryanodine-sensitive calcium stores in the dentate gyrus. Eur J Neurosci 2006;24:3109–18.
- [37] Welsby PJ, Rowan MJ, Anwyl R. Beta-amyloid blocks high frequency stimulation induced LTP but not nicotine enhanced LTP. Neuropharmacology 2007;53:188-95.
- [38] Wallace TL, Callahan PM, Tehim A, Bertrand D, Tombaugh G, Wang S, et al. RG3487, a novel nicotinic alpha 7 receptor partial agonist, improves cognition and sensorimotor gating in rodents. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2011; 336:242-53
- [39] Bitner RS, Bunnelle WH, Anderson DJ, Briggs CA, Buccafusco J, Curzon P, et al. Broad-spectrum efficacy across cognitive domains by alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonism correlates with activation of ERK1/2 and CREB phosphorylation pathways. J Neurosci 2007;27:10578–87.
- [40] Frank DA, Greenberg ME. CREB: a mediator of long-term memory from mollusks to mammals. Cell 1994:79:5–8.
- [41] Thomsen MS, Mikkelsen JD, Timmermann DB, Peters D, Hay-Schmidt A, Martens H, et al. The selective alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonist A-582941 activates immediate early genes in limbic regions of the forebrain: differential effects in the juvenile and adult rat. Neuroscience 2008;154: 741–53
- [42] Quick MW, Lester RA. Desensitization of neuronal nicotinic receptors. J Neurobiol 2002;53:457-78.
- [43] Mike A, Castro NG, Albuquerque EX. Choline and acetylcholine have similar kinetic properties of activation and desensitization on the alpha7 nicotinic receptors in rat hippocampal neurons. Brain Res 2000;882:155–68.
- [44] Giniatullin R, Nistri A, Yakel JL. Desensitization of nicotinic ACh receptors: shaping cholinergic signaling. Trends Neurosci 2005;28:371–8.
- [45] Picciotto MR. Nicotine as a modulator of behavior: beyond the inverted U. Trends Pharmacol Sci 2003;24:493–9.

- [46] Wallace TL, Chiu G, Dao H, Santarelli L, Porter R, Bertrand S, et al. Modulation of cholinergic tone impacts the efficacy of RG3487/MEM3454, a novel, nicotinic alpha 7 receptor agonist. San Diego, California: Society for Neuroscience Annual Meeting; 2010. p. 113.
- [47] Buccafusco JJ, Beach JW, Terry Jr AV. Desensitization of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors as a strategy for drug development. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2009;328:364–70.
- [48] Fujii S, Jia Y, Yang A, Sumikawa K. Nicotine reverses GABAergic inhibition of long-term potentiation induction in the hippocampal CA1 region. Brain Res 2000:863:259–65.
- [49] Buccafusco JJ, Jackson WJ, Jonnala RR, Terry Jr AV. Differential improvement in memory-related task performance with nicotine by aged male and female rhesus monkeys. Behav Pharmacol 1999;10:681–90.
- [50] Pichat P, Bergis OE, Terranova JP, Urani A, Duarte C, Santucci V, et al. SSR 180711, a novel selective alpha7 nicotinic receptor partial agonist: (II) efficacy in experimental models predictive of activity against cognitive symptoms of schizophrenia. Neuropsychopharmacology 2007;32:17–34.
- [51] Roncarati R, Scali C, Comery TA, Grauer SM, Aschmi S, Bothmann H, et al. Procognitive and neuroprotective activity of a novel alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonist for treatment of neurodegenerative and cognitive disorders. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2009;329:459–68.
- [52] Koenig G, Palfreyman MG, Chesworth R, Shapiro G, Prickaerts J, Reneerkens OAH, et al. EVP-6124, a novel and potent alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonist, improves memory acquisition, retention and retrieval and reverses scopolamine-induced memory deficits. Chicago, Illinois: Society for Neuroscience; 2009. p. 1137.
- [53] Hodges H, Sowinski P, Turner JJ, Fletcher A. Comparison of the effects of the 5-HT3 receptor antagonists WAY-100579 and ondansetron on spatial learning in the water maze in rats with excitotoxic lesions of the forebrain cholinergic projection system. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 1996;125:146–61.
- [54] Pitsikas N, Borsini F. Different effects of tropisetron and ondansetron in learning and memory paradigms. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 1997;56: 571-6
- [55] Arendash GW, Sengstock GJ, Sanberg PR, Kem WR. Improved learning and memory in aged rats with chronic administration of the nicotinic receptor agonist GTS-21. Brain Res 1995;674:252–9.
- [56] Marighetto A, Valerio S, Desmedt A, Philippin JN, Trocme-Thibierge C, Morain P. Comparative effects of the alpha7 nicotinic partial agonist S 24795, and the cholinesterase inhibitor, donepezil, against aging-related deficits in declarative and working memory in mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2008; 197:499–508.
- [57] Meyer EM, Tay ET, Papke RL, Meyers C, Huang GL, de Fiebre CM. 3-[2,4-Dimethoxybenzylidene]anabaseine (DMXB) selectively activates rat alpha7 receptors and improves memory-related behaviors in a mecamylamine-sensitive manner. Brain Res 1997:768:49-56.
- [58] Barak S, Arad M, De Levie A, Black MD, Griebel G, Weiner I. Pro-cognitive and antipsychotic efficacy of the alpha7 nicotinic partial agonist SSR 180711 in pharmacological and neurodevelopmental latent inhibition models of schizophrenia. Neuropsychopharmacology 2009;34:1753–63.
- [59] Goldman-Rakic PS, Selemon LD. Functional and anatomical aspects of prefrontal pathology in schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 1997;23:437–58.
- [60] Levin ED, Bettegowda C, Blosser J, Gordon J. AR-R17779, and alpha7 nicotinic agonist, improves learning and memory in rats. Behav Pharmacol 1999; 10:675-80.
- [61] Bettany JH, Levin ED. Ventral hippocampal alpha 7 nicotinic receptor blockade and chronic nicotine effects on memory performance in the radial-arm maze. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 2001;70:467-74.
- [62] Nott A, Levin ED. Dorsal hippocampal alpha7 and alpha4beta2 nicotinic receptors and memory. Brain Res 2006;1081:72–8.
- [63] Levin ED, Bradley A, Addy N, Sigurani N. Hippocampal alpha 7 and alpha 4 beta 2 nicotinic receptors and working memory. Neuroscience 2002;109: 757–65.
- [64] Fernandes C, Hoyle E, Dempster E, Schalkwyk LC, Collier DA. Performance deficit of alpha7 nicotinic receptor knockout mice in a delayed matching-toplace task suggests a mild impairment of working/episodic-like memory. Genes Brain Behav 2006;5:433–40.
- [65] Briggs CA, Anderson DJ, Brioni JD, Buccafusco JJ, Buckley MJ, Campbell JE, et al. Functional characterization of the novel neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor ligand GTS-21 in vitro and in vivo. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 1997;57:231-41.
- [66] Bitner RS, Bunnelle WH, Decker MW, Drescher KU, Kohlhaas KL, Markosyan S, et al. In vivo pharmacological characterization of a novel selective alpha7 neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonist ABT-107: preclinical considerations in Alzheimer's disease. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2010;334: 875-86.
- [67] Wallace TL, Chiu G, Dao H, Lowe DA, Porter R, Santarelli L. R3487/MEM 3454, a novel nicotinic alpha 7 receptor partial agonist, improves attention and working memory performance in cynomolgus macaques. Chicago, Illinois: Society for Neuroscience Annual Meeting; 2009.
- [68] Castner SA, Smagin GN, Piser TM, Wang Y, Smith JS, Christian EP, et al. Immediate and sustained improvements in working memory after selective stimulation of alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. Biol Psychiatry 2011;69:12–8.
- [69] Young JW, Crawford N, Kelly JS, Kerr LE, Marston HM, Spratt C, et al. Impaired attention is central to the cognitive deficits observed in alpha 7 deficient mice. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 2007;17:145–55.

- [70] Hoyle E, Genn RF, Fernandes C, Stolerman IP. Impaired performance of alpha7 nicotinic receptor knockout mice in the five-choice serial reaction time task. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2006;189:211–23.
- [71] Rezvani AH, Kholdebarin E, Brucato FH, Callahan PM, Lowe DA, Levin ED. Effect of R3487/MEM3454, a novel nicotinic alpha7 receptor partial agonist and 5-HT3 antagonist on sustained attention in rats. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 2009;33:269–75.
- [72] Grottick AJ, Higgins GA. Effect of subtype selective nicotinic compounds on attention as assessed by the five-choice serial reaction time task. Behav Brain Res 2000;117:197–208.
- [73] Grottick AJ, Haman M, Wyler R, Higgins GA. Reversal of a vigilance decrement in the aged rat by subtype-selective nicotinic ligands. Neuropsychopharmacology 2003;28:880-7.
- [74] Hahn B, Sharples CG, Wonnacott S, Shoaib M, Stolerman IP. Attentional effects of nicotinic agonists in rats. Neuropharmacology 2003;44:1054–67.
- [75] Blondel A, Sanger DJ, Moser PC. Characterisation of the effects of nicotine in the five-choice serial reaction time task in rats: antagonist studies. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2000;149:293–305.
- [76] Leiser SC, Bowlby MR, Comery TA, Dunlop J. A cog in cognition: how the alpha 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor is geared towards improving cognitive deficits. Pharmacol Ther 2009;122:302–11.
- [77] Martin LF, Kem WR, Freedman R. Alpha-7 nicotinic receptor agonists: potential new candidates for the treatment of schizophrenia. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2004;174:54–64.
- [78] Hajos M, Hurst RS, Hoffmann WE, Krause M, Wall TM, Higdon NR, et al. The selective alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonist PNU-282987 [N-[(3R)-1-Azabicyclo[2.2.2]oct-3-yl]-4-chlorobenzamide hydrochloride] enhances GABAergic synaptic activity in brain slices and restores auditory gating deficits in anesthetized rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2005;312: 1213–22.
- [79] Olivier B, Leahy C, Mullen T, Paylor R, Groppi VE, Sarnyai Z, et al. The DBA/2J strain and prepulse inhibition of startle: a model system to test antipsychotics? Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2001;156:284–90.
- [80] Stevens KE, Kem WR, Mahnir VM, Freedman R. Selective alpha7-nicotinic agonists normalize inhibition of auditory response in DBA mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 1998;136:320–7.
- [81] Luntz-Leybman V, Bickford PC, Freedman R. Cholinergic gating of response to auditory stimuli in rat hippocampus. Brain Res 1992;587:130–6.
- [82] O'Neill HC, Rieger K, Kem WR, Stevens KE. DMXB, an alpha7 nicotinic agonist, normalizes auditory gating in isolation-reared rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2003;169:332–9.
- [83] Schreiber R, Dalmus M, De Vry J. Effects of alpha 4/beta 2- and alpha 7nicotine acetylcholine receptor agonists on prepulse inhibition of the acoustic startle response in rats and mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2002;159: 248-57.
- [84] Ellenbroek BA, van Luijtelaar G, Frenken M, Cools AR. Sensory gating in rats: lack of correlation between auditory evoked potential gating and prepulse inhibition. Schizophr Bull 1999;25:777–88.
- [85] de Leon J, Diaz FJ. A meta-analysis of worldwide studies demonstrates an association between schizophrenia and tobacco smoking behaviors. Schizophr Res 2005;76:135–57.
- [86] Moss TG, Sacco KA, Allen TM, Weinberger AH, Vessicchio JC, George TP. Prefrontal cognitive dysfunction is associated with tobacco dependence treatment failure in smokers with schizophrenia. Drug Alcohol Depend 2009:104:94–9
- [87] Hurst RS, Hajos M, Raggenbass M, Wall TM, Higdon NR, Lawson JA, et al. A novel positive allosteric modulator of the alpha7 neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor: in vitro and in vivo characterization. J Neurosci 2005:25:4396–405.
- [88] Ng HJ, Whittemore ER, Tran MB, Hogenkamp DJ, Broide RS, Johnstone TB, et al. Nootropic alpha7 nicotinic receptor allosteric modulator derived from GABAA receptor modulators. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2007;104:8059–64.
- [89] Dinklo T, Shaban H, Thuring JW, Lavreysen H, Stevens KE, Zheng L, et al. Characterization of 2-[[4-fluoro-3-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl]amino]-4-(4-pyridinyl)-5-thiazoleme thanol (JNJ-1930942), a novel positive allosteric modulator of the {alpha}7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2011;336:560-74.
- [90] Dunlop J, Lock T, Jow B, Sitzia F, Grauer S, Jow F, et al. Old and new pharmacology: positive allosteric modulation of the alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor by the 5-hydroxytryptamine(2B/C) receptor antagonist SB-206553 (3,5-dihydro-5-methyl-N-3-pyridinylbenzo[1,2-b:4,5-b']di pyrrole-1(2H)-carboxamide). J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2009;328:766-76.
- [91] Timmermann DB, Gronlien JH, Kohlhaas KL, Nielsen EO, Dam E, Jorgensen TD, et al. An allosteric modulator of the alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor possessing cognition-enhancing properties in vivo. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2007;323:294–307.
- [92] Brookmeyer R, Johnson E, Ziegler-Graham K, Arrighi HM. Forecasting the global burden of Alzheimer's disease; 2007;3:186–91.
- [93] Levin ED, McClernon FJ, Rezvani AH. Nicotinic effects on cognitive function: behavioral characterization, pharmacological specification, and anatomic localization. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2006;184:523–39.
- [94] Kem WR. The brain alpha7 nicotinic receptor may be an important therapeutic target for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease: studies with DMXBA (CTS-21). Behav Brain Res 2000;113:169–81.
- [95] Bourin M, Ripoll N, Dailly E. Nicotinic receptors and Alzheimer's disease. Curr Med Res Opin 2003;19:169–77.

- [96] D'Andrea MR, Nagele RG. Targeting the alpha 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor to reduce amyloid accumulation in Alzheimer's disease pyramidal neurons. Curr Pharm Des 2006;12:677–84.
- [97] Mazurov A, Hauser T, Miller CH. Selective alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor ligands. Curr Med Chem 2006;13:1567–84.
- [98] Guan ZZ, Zhang X, Ravid R, Nordberg A. Decreased protein levels of nicotinic receptor subunits in the hippocampus and temporal cortex of patients with Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem 2000;74:237–43.
- [99] Kadir A, Almkvist O, Wall A, Langstrom B, Nordberg A. PET imaging of cortical 11C-nicotine binding correlates with the cognitive function of attention in Alzheimer's disease. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2006;188:509–20.
- [100] Court J, Martin-Ruiz C, Piggott M, Spurden D, Griffiths M, Perry E. Nicotinic receptor abnormalities in Alzheimer's disease. Biol Psychiatry 2001;49: 175–84.
- [101] Liu Q, Kawai H, Berg DK. beta-Amyloid peptide blocks the response of alpha 7-containing nicotinic receptors on hippocampal neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001;98:4734-9.
- [102] Lee DH, Wang HY. Differential physiologic responses of alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors to beta-amyloid1-40 and beta-amyloid1-42. J Neurobiol 2003;55:25-30.
- [103] Dineley KT, Westerman M, Bui D, Bell K, Ashe KH, Sweatt JD. Beta-amyloid activates the mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade via hippocampal alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: In vitro and in vivo mechanisms related to Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci 2001;21:4125–33.
- [104] Dougherty JJ, Wu J, Nichols ŘA. Beta-amyloid regulation of presynaptic nicotinic receptors in rat hippocampus and neocortex. J Neurosci 2003;23:6740-7.
- [105] Small DH, Maksel D, Kerr ML, Ng J, Hou X, Chu C, et al. The beta-amyloid protein of Alzheimer's disease binds to membrane lipids but does not bind to the alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. J Neurochem 2007;101:1527–38.
- [106] Wang HY, Lee DH, D'Andrea MR, Peterson PA, Shank RP, Reitz AB. beta-Amyloid(1–42) binds to alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor with high affinity. Implications for Alzheimer's disease pathology. J Biol Chem 2000;275:5626–32.
- [107] Wang HY, Lee DH, Davis CB, Shank RP. Amyloid peptide Abeta(1–42) binds selectively and with picomolar affinity to alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. J Neurochem 2000;75:1155–61.
- [108] Dziewczapolski G, Glogowski CM, Masliah E, Heinemann SF. Deletion of the alpha 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor gene improves cognitive deficits and synaptic pathology in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci 2009;29:8805–15.
- [109] Buckingham SD, Jones AK, Brown LA, Sattelle DB. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor signalling: roles in Alzheimer's disease and amyloid neuroprotection. Pharmacol Rev 2009;61:39–61.
- [110] Kihara T, Shimohama S, Sawada H, Honda K, Nakamizo T, Shibasaki H, et al. alpha 7 nicotinic receptor transduces signals to phosphatidylinositol 3kinase to block A beta-amyloid-induced neurotoxicity. J Biol Chem 2001;276:13541–6.
- [111] Liu Q, Zhang J, Zhu H, Qin C, Chen Q, Zhao B. Dissecting the signaling pathway of nicotine-mediated neuroprotection in a mouse Alzheimer disease model. FASEB J 2007;21:61–73.
- [112] Meyer EM, King MA, Meyers C. Neuroprotective effects of 2,4-dimethoxybenzylidene anabaseine (DMXB) and tetrahydroaminoacridine (THA) in neocortices of nucleus basalis lesioned rats. Brain Res 1998:786:252-4.
- [113] Chen L, Wang H, Zhang Z, Li Z, He D, Sokabe M. DMXB (GTS-21) ameliorates the cognitive deficits in beta amyloid(25-35(-)) injected mice through preventing the dysfunction of alpha7 nicotinic receptor. J Neurosci Res 2010:88:1784-94.
- [114] Bitner RS, Nikkel AL, Markosyan S, Otte S, Puttfarcken P, Gopalakrishnan M. Selective alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor activation regulates glycogen synthase kinase3beta and decreases tau phosphorylation in vivo. Brain Res 2009:1265:65–74.
- [115] Hilt D, Safirstein B, Hassman D, Apter J, Thein S, Maruff P, et al. EVP-6124 safety, tolerability and cognitive effects of a novel alpha7 nicotinic receptor agonist in Alzheimer's disease patients on stable donepezil or rivastigmine therapy. In: International Congress on Alzheimer's Disease; 2009.
- [116] Palmer BW, Heaton RK, Paulsen JS, Kuck J, Braff D, Harris MJ, et al. Is it possible to be schizophrenic yet neuropsychologically normal? Neuropsychology 1997;11:437–46.
- [117] Green MF, Nuechterlein KH, Gold JM, Barch DM, Cohen J, Essock S, et al. Approaching a consensus cognitive battery for clinical trials in schizophrenia: the NIMH-MATRICS conference to select cognitive domains and test criteria. Biol Psychiatry 2004;56:301–7.
- [118] Buchanan RW, Freedman R, Javitt DC, Abi-Dargham A, Lieberman JA. Recent advances in the development of novel pharmacological agents for the treatment of cognitive impairments in schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 2007:33:1120-30.
- [119] Levin ED, Wilson W, Rose JE, McEvoy J. Nicotine-haloperidol interactions and cognitive performance in schizophrenics. Neuropsychopharmacology 1996;15: 429–36.
- [120] Adler LE, Hoffer LD, Wiser A, Freedman R. Normalization of auditory physiology by cigarette smoking in schizophrenic patients. Am J Psychiatry 1993;150:1856–61.
- [121] Freedman R, Hall M, Adler LE, Leonard S. Evidence in postmortem brain tissue for decreased numbers of hippocampal nicotinic receptors in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 1995;38:22–33.

- [122] Adler LE, Olincy A, Waldo M, Harris JG, Griffith J, Stevens K, et al. Schizophrenia, sensory gating, and nicotinic receptors. Schizophr Bull 1998;24:189–202.
- [123] Freedman R, Coon H, Myles-Worsley M, Orr-Urtreger A, Olincy A, Davis A, et al. Linkage of a neurophysiological deficit in schizophrenia to a chromosome 15 locus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997;94:587–92.
- [124] Curtis L, Blouin JL, Radhakrishna U, Gehrig C, Lasseter VK, Wolyniec P, et al. No evidence for linkage between schizophrenia and markers at chromosome 15q13–14. Am J Med Genet 1999;88:109–12.
- [125] Leonard S, Gault J, Hopkins J, Logel J, Vianzon R, Short M, et al. Association of promoter variants in the alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit gene with an inhibitory deficit found in schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2002;59:1085–96.
- [126] Simosky JK, Stevens KE, Freedman R. Nicotinic agonists and psychosis. Curr Drug Targets CNS Neurol Disord 2002;1:149–62.
- [127] Shiina A, Shirayama Y, Niitsu T, Hashimoto T, Yoshida T, Hasegawa T, et al. A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of tropisetron in patients with schizophrenia. Ann Gen Psychiatry 2010;9:27.
- [128] Olincy A, Harris JG, Johnson LL, Pender V, Kongs S, Allensworth D, et al. Proofof-concept trial of an alpha7 nicotinic agonist in schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2006;63:630–8.
- [129] Freedman R, Olincy A, Buchanan RW, Harris JG, Gold JM, Johnson L, et al. Initial phase 2 trial of a nicotinic agonist in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 2008:165:1040–7.
- [130] Umbricht DMS, Lowe D, Yoo K, Porter R, Garibaldi G, Santarelli L, et al. The effect of the partial nicotinic alpha7 receptor agonist R3487 on cognitive deficits in schizophrenia. In: 48th annual meeting of American college of neuropsychopharmacology; 2009.
- [131] Hosford D, Dunbar G, Lieberman JA, Segreti A. The alpha7 neuronal nicotinic receptor (NNR) agonist TC-5619 had beneficial effects and was generally well tolerated in a phase 2 trial in cognitive dysfunction in schizophrenia (CDS). In: 13th international congress on schizophrenia research; 2011.
- [132] A.P. Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, 4th ed., Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association; 1994.
- [133] Levin ED, Simon BB. Nicotinic acetylcholine involvement in cognitive function in animals. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 1998;138:217–30.
- [134] Pomerleau OF, Downey KK, Stelson FW, Pomerleau CS. Cigarette smoking in adult patients diagnosed with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. J Subst Abuse 1995;7:373–8.
- [135] Milberger S, Biederman J, Faraone SV, Chen L, Jones J. Further evidence of an association between attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and cigarette smoking Findings from a high-risk sample of siblings. Am J Addict 1997;6:205–17.
- [136] Milberger S, Biederman J, Faraone SV, Chen L, Jones J. Is maternal smoking during pregnancy a risk factor for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in children? Am J Psychiatry 1996;153:1138–42.
- [137] Kent L, Green E, Holmes J, Thapar A, Gill M, Hawi Z, et al. No association between CHRNA7 microsatellite markers and attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Am J Med Genet 2001;105:686–9.
- [138] Perry EK, Lee ML, Martin-Ruiz CM, Court JA, Volsen SG, Merrit J, et al. Cholinergic activity in autism: abnormalities in the cerebral cortex and basal forebrain. Am J Psychiatry 2001:158:1058–66.
- [139] Deutsch SI, Urbano MR, Neumann SR, Burket JA, Katz E. Cholinergic abnormalities in autism: is there a rationale for selective nicotinic agonist interventions? Clin Neuropharmacol 2010;33:114–20.
- [140] Kemper TL, Bauman M. Neuropathology of infantile autism. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 1998;57:645–52.
- [141] Lee M, Martin-Ruiz C, Graham A, Court J, Jaros E, Perry R, et al. Nicotinic receptor abnormalities in the cerebellar cortex in autism. Brain 2002;125:1483–95.
- [142] McAlonan GM, Daly E, Kumari V, Critchley HD, van Amelsvoort T, Suckling J, et al. Brain anatomy and sensorimotor gating in Asperger's syndrome. Brain 2002:125:1594-606.
- [143] Orekhova EV, Stroganova TA, Prokofyev AO, Nygren G, Gillberg C, Elam M. Sensory gating in young children with autism: relation to age IQ, and EEG gamma oscillations. Neurosci Lett 2008;434:218–23.
- [144] Buccafusco JJ, Terry Jr AV, Decker MW, Gopalakrishnan M. Profile of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonists ABT-594 and A-582941, with differential subtype selectivity, on delayed matching accuracy by young monkeys. Biochem Pharmacol 2007;74:1202–11.
- [145] Redrobe JP, Nielsen EO, Christensen JK, Peters D, Timmermann DB, Olsen GM. Alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor activation ameliorates scopolamineinduced behavioural changes in a modified continuous Y-maze task in mice. Eur 1 Pharmacol 2009:602:58–65.
- [146] Boess FG, De Vry J, Erb C, Flessner T, Hendrix M, Luithle J, et al. The novel alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonist N-[(3R)-1-azabicyclo[2.2.2]oct-3-yl]-7-[2-(methoxy)phenyl]-1-benzofuran-2-carboxamide improves working and recognition memory in rodents. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2007;321:716–25.
- [147] Van Kampen M, Selbach K, Schneider R, Schiegel E, Boess F, Schreiber R. AR-R 17779 improves social recognition in rats by activation of nicotinic alpha7 receptors. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2004;172:375–83.

- [148] Li JG, Lehr M, Liu-Chen LY, Woodruff-Pak DS. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and modulation of learning in 4- and 27-month-old rabbits. Neuropsychopharmacology 2008;33:2820–30.
- [149] Sydserff S, Sutton EJ, Song D, Quirk MC, Maciag C, Li C, et al. Selective alpha7 nicotinic receptor activation by AZD0328 enhances cortical dopamine release and improves learning and attentional processes. Biochem Pharmacol 2009;78:880–8.
- [150] Tatsumi R, Fujio M, Takanashi S, Numata A, Katayama J, Satoh H, et al. (R)-3'-(3-methylbenzo[b]thiophen-5-yl)spiro[1-azabicyclo[2,2,2]octane-3,5'-oxazolidin]-2'-one, a novel and potent alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor partial agonist displays cognitive enhancing properties. J Med Chem 2006;49:4374-83.
- [151] Woodruff-Pak DS, Li YT, Kem WR. A nicotinic agonist (GTS-21), eyeblink classical conditioning, and nicotinic receptor binding in rabbit brain. Brain Res 1994;645:309–17.
- [152] Woodruff-Pak DS, Green JT, Coleman-Valencia C, Pak JT. A nicotinic cholinergic agonist (GTS-21) and eyeblink classical conditioning: acquisition, retention, and relearning in older rabbits. Exp Aging Res 2000;26:323–36.
- [153] Woodruff-Pak DS. Mecamylamine reversal by nicotine and by a partial alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonist (GTS-21) in rabbits tested with delay eyeblink classical conditioning. Behav Brain Res 2003;143: 159-67.
- [154] Decker MW, Brioni JD, Bannon AW, Arneric SP. Diversity of neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: lessons from behavior and implications for CNS therapeutics. Life Sci 1995;56:545–70.
- [155] Simosky JK, Stevens KE, Kem WR, Freedman R. Intragastric DMXB-A, an alpha7 nicotinic agonist, improves deficient sensory inhibition in DBA/2 mice. Biol Psychiatry 2001;50:493–500.
- [156] Stevens KE, Kem WR, Freedman R. Selective alpha 7 nicotinic receptor stimulation normalizes chronic cocaine-induced loss of hippocampal sensory inhibition in C3H mice. Biol Psychiatry 1999;46:1443-50.
- [157] Feuerbach D, Lingenhoehl K, Olpe HR, Vassout A, Gentsch C, Chaperon F, et al. The selective nicotinic acetylcholine receptor alpha7 agonist JN403 is active in animal models of cognition, sensory gating, epilepsy and pain. Neuropharmacology 2009;56:254–63.
- [158] Wishka DG, Walker DP, Yates KM, Reitz SC, Jia S, Myers JK, et al. Discovery of N-[(3R)-1-azabicyclo[2.2.2]oct-3-yl]furo[2,3-c]pyridine-5-carboxamide, an agonist of the alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor, for the potential treatment of cognitive deficits in schizophrenia: synthesis and structureactivity relationship. J Med Chem 2006;49:4425-36.
- [159] Walker DP, Wishka DG, Piotrowski DW, Jia S, Reitz SC, Yates KM, et al. Design, synthesis, structure-activity relationship, and in vivo activity of azabicyclic aryl amides as alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonists. Bioorg Med Chem 2006;14:8219–48.
- [160] Acker BA, Jacobsen EJ, Rogers BN, Wishka DG, Reitz SC, Piotrowski DW, et al. Discovery of N-[(3R,5R)-1-azabicyclo[3.2.1]oct-3-yl]furo[2,3-c]pyridine-5-carboxamide as an agonist of the alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor: in vitro and in vivo activity. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 2008;18:3611–5.
- [161] Chan WK, Wong PT, Sheu FS. Frontal cortical alpha7 and alpha4beta2 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in working and reference memory. Neuropharmacology 2007;52:1641–9.
- [162] Bodnar AL, Cortes-Burgos LA, Cook KK, Dinh DM, Groppi VE, Hajos M, et al. Discovery and structure-activity relationship of quinuclidine benzamides as agonists of alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. J Med Chem 2005; 48:905–8
- [163] Beracochea D, Boucard A, Trocme-Thibierge C, Morain P. Improvement of contextual memory by S 24795 in aged mice: comparison with memantine. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2008;196:555–64.
- [164] Hashimoto K, Ishima T, Fujita Y, Matsuo M, Kobashi T, Takahagi M, et al. Phencyclidine-induced cognitive deficits in mice are improved by subsequent subchronic administration of the novel selective alpha7 nicotinic receptor agonist SSR 180711. Biol Psychiatry 2008;63:92–7.
- [165] Thomsen MS, Christensen DZ, Hansen HH, Redrobe JP, Mikkelsen JD. alpha(7) Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor activation prevents behavioral and molecular changes induced by repeated phencyclidine treatment. Neuropharmacology 2009;56:1001–9.
- [166] Hauser TA, Kucinski A, Jordan KG, Gatto GJ, Wersinger SR, Hesse RA, et al. TC-5619: an alpha7 neuronal nicotinic receptor-selective agonist that demonstrates efficacy in animal models of the positive and negative symptoms and cognitive dysfunction of schizophrenia. Biochem Pharmacol 2009;78: 803-12
- [167] Faghih R, Gopalakrishnan SM, Gronlien JH, Malysz J, Briggs CA, Wetterstrand C, et al. Discovery of 4-(5-(4-chlorophenyl)-2-methyl-3-propionyl-1H-pyrrol-1-yl)benzenesulfonami de (A-867744) as a novel positive allosteric modulator of the alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. J Med Chem 2009;52:3377-84.
- [168] Cilia J, Cluderay JE, Robbins MJ, Reavill C, Southam E, Kew JN, et al. Reversal of isolation-rearing-induced PPI deficits by an alpha7 nicotinic receptor agonist. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2005;182:214–9.